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SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT
This Settlement Agreement under the California Labor Code Private Attorneys General Act
(“PAGA”) is made by and between plaintiff Marcie Hamilton (“Plaintiff”), on behalf of herself and the
State of California, and Jim Isaacson, also on behalf of the State of California (collectively “PAGA
Representatives”), on the one hand, and defendant Juul Labs Inc. (“Defendant”), on the other hand
(collectively, the “Parties”).
I.

DEFINITIONS

Unless otherwise defined herein, the following terms used in this Agreement shall have the
meanings ascribed to them as set forth below:
A.

“Action” means the civil action titled Hamilton v. Juul Labs, Inc., filed in the United States
District Court for the Northern District of California, Case No. 3:20-cv-3710.

B.

“Agreement,” “Settlement,” or “Settlement Agreement” means this Settlement Agreement.

C.

“Complaint” means the Complaint filed by Plaintiff on June 4, 2020, and all amendments
thereto, including the currently operative First Amended Complaint.

D.

“Court” means the United States District Court for the Northern District of California.

E.

“Covered Period” means the period of time from August 14, 2018 to the date the Court
grants approval of the Settlement.

F.

“Executive” means an employee who was a C-Level Officer (including founders and the
Chief Accounting Officer), General Manager, General Counsel, President, Senior Vice
President, or Executive Director.

G.

“Final” means: (1) if there are no objections, the Court has entered an order or judgment
approving the settlement; or (2) if there are objections, either (a) the Ninth Circuit has
rendered a final judgment affirming the Court’s approval order without material
modification and the date for further review by an appellate or supreme court has passed
without such further review, or (b) the applicable date for seeking appellate review of the
Court’s final approval of the Settlement has passed without a timely appeal or request for
review having been made.

H.

“LWDA” means the California Labor and Workforce Development Agency.

I.

“LWDA Payment” means the portion of the Total Settlement Amount to be paid to the
LWDA under the Settlement Agreement.

J.

“Notice Packet” means the Notice identified in Section III.C.1 and the individual
settlement checks to PAGA Group Members, as provided for in Section III.B.2.

K.

“PAGA Claims” means all claims asserted in the Action under PAGA, based on the factual
allegations set forth in the Complaint, during the “Covered Period”.

L.

“PAGA Group Members (Formers)” means any non-Executive California employee of
Defendant who meets the following conditions: (1) the employee was employed by
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Defendant and worked Pay Periods at any point during the Covered Period; (2) the
employee is no longer employed by Defendant at the time the Court approves the
Settlement; and (3) the employee worked a Pay Period for Defendant at any point during
the Covered Period. PAGA Group Members (Formers) shall include Plaintiff.

II.

M.

“PAGA Group Members (Currents)” means any non-Executive California employee of
Defendant who meets the following conditions: (1) the employee was employed by
Defendant and worked Pay Periods at any point during the Covered Period; (2) the
employee remains employed by Defendant at the time the Court approves the Settlement;
and (3) the employee worked a Pay Period for Defendant at any point during the Covered
Period.

N.

“Penalty Amount (Currents)” means the portion of the Total Settlement Amount based on
the Pay Periods of PAGA Group Members (Currents).

O.

“Penalty Amount (Formers)” means the portion of the Total Settlement Amount based on
the Pay Periods of PAGA Group Members (Formers).

P.

“Pay Period” means the time period between an employee’s regular payroll check or
payroll direct deposit. The number of Pay Periods for each employee shall correspond with
the number of pay periods worked by the employee within the physical boundaries of the
State of California. Subject to the challenge procedure set forth in Section III.F.4, the
parties will calculate the Pay Periods worked by an employee within the physical
boundaries of California based on whether the employee identified their residential address
as being in the State of California during that Pay Period.

Q.

“Plaintiff’s Counsel” means the law firm of Baker Curtis & Schwartz, P.C.

R.

“Qualified Settlement Fund” is the common fund, account, or trust under the control of the
Settlement Administrator into which the amounts set forth in this Settlement Agreement
are deposited.

S.

“Settlement Administrator,” or “Administrator,” means a third-party administrator selected
by Plaintiff’s Counsel, confirmed as acceptable to Defendant, and/or approved by the
Court.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND
A.

On June 4, 2020, plaintiff Marcie Hamilton filed this Action against Juul Labs, Inc. The
Complaint alleges various violations of California Labor Code sections 96(k), 98.6, 232,
232.5, 432.5, 1101, 1102, 1102.5(a), 1197.5, Business & Professions Code §§ 16600,
16720 et. seq., 17200 et. seq, and California Government Code § 12964.5. The Complaint
seeks civil penalties pursuant to the Labor Code Private Attorneys General Act of 2004
(“PAGA”) and a public injunction pursuant to California’s Unfair Competition Law.

B.

On September 29, 2020, Jim Isaacson filed and served a notice with the LWDA stating his
intent to join Plaintiff as a PAGA representative with respect to the PAGA claims against
Defendant.

C.

Defendant represents that there are approximately 1,145 PAGA Group Members (Formers)
and that the former members have been employed for a total of approximately 37,139 Pay
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Periods during the Covered Period. Defendant also represents that there are approximately
509 PAGA Group Members (Currents) and that the current members have been employed
for a total of approximately 28,097 Pay Periods during the Covered Period. These
representations are consistent with Plaintiff counsel’s review of spreadsheets evidencing
information from Defendant’s payroll system. The accuracy of these numbers will not
affect the Total Settlement Amount unless any final number for PAGA Group Members
(Former) or PAGA Group Members (Current) – as provided to the Settlement
Administrator – is 10% or more than the numbers referenced herein, in which case the
number of PAGA Group Members (Former) or PAGA Group Members (Current), or their
respective Pay Periods, will be increased by the amount of the discrepancy.

III.

D.

Following certain motion practice, Defendant answered the First Amended Complaint,
denying Plaintiff’s allegations.

E.

This Agreement represents a compromise and settlement of highly disputed claims.
Nothing in this Agreement is intended or will be construed as an admission by Defendant
that Plaintiff’s claims have merit or that it has any liability to Plaintiff or the State of
California or any of the PAGA Group Members.

SETTLEMENT TERMS AND CONDITIONS
A.

Total Settlement Amount. The Total Settlement Amount is the sum of $34.03
multiplied by the number of Pay Periods, 65,236, or, assuming no adjustments pursuant
to Section II.C, $2,219,981.08. Of this Total Settlement Amount, $1,263,840.17 shall
constitute the Penalty Amount (Formers) and $956,140.91 shall constitute the Penalty
Amount (Currents). Except as provided in Section III.G.6, this shall be the entire amount
paid by Defendant in settlement of the PAGA Claims and the claim for public injunctive
relief under California’s Unfair Competition Law, and all settlement payments to PAGA
Group Members, payments to the LWDA, Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees and costs, the fees
and expenses of the Settlement Administrator, and service payments shall only be paid
from the amounts deposited into the Qualified Settlement Fund.

B.

Allocation of the Total Settlement Amount
1.

Payment to LWDA. The LWDA is entitled to 75% of the Total Settlement
Amount, after court-approved deductions (if any), and subject to the suspension
and forgiveness provisions set forth in Section III.B.4 and the reserve fund set forth
in Section III.F.3.

2.

Payment to PAGA Group Members. The PAGA Group Members are entitled
to 25% of the Total Settlement Amount, after court-approved deductions (if any),
and subject to the suspension and forgiveness provisions set forth in Section
III.B.4. The allocation of each PAGA Group Member’s separate share of the 25%
of the Total Settlement Amount shall be as follows:
a.

Each PAGA Group Member (Former) is entitled to a base payment of
$250 (25% of the civil penalties allocated to the alleged violations under
Labor Code §§ 98.6 and 1102.5(a)) and a pro-rated amount of the
remainder of the Payment to PAGA Group Members (Formers) based on
each former employee’s number of Pay Periods as a proportion of the total
number of Pay Periods worked by all PAGA Group Members (Formers).
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C.

b.

Subject to Section III.B.4, each PAGA Group Member (Current) is entitled
to a base payment of $250 (25% of the civil penalties allocated to the
alleged violations under Labor Code §§ 98.6 and 1102.5(a)) and a prorated amount of the remainder of the Payment to PAGA Group Members
(Currents), based on each current employee’s number of Pay Periods as a
proportion of the total number of Pay Periods worked by all PAGA Group
Members (Currents).

c.

Payments to PAGA Group Members are in the nature of penalties. The
Administrator will treat them as penalties for tax purposes.

3.

Court-Approved Deductions. Consistent with applicable law and equitable
principles, Plaintiff will move for, and the Court will award or approve, attorneys’
fees and costs to Plaintiff’s Counsel, fees and costs to the Settlement
Administrator, and service payments to the PAGA Representatives, to be deducted
from the amounts deposited into the Qualified Settlement Fund. Unless the Court
orders otherwise, the settlement amounts paid to the LWDA and each PAGA
Group Member from the Qualified Settlement Fund shall be reduced on a pro-rata
basis by the amount of the court-approved deductions.

4.

Suspension and Forgiveness of Penalty Amount (Currents). Provided that
Defendant substantially complies with the programmatic relief set forth in Section
III.C.2, its obligation to pay the Penalty Amount (Currents) shall be immediately
suspended and then forgiven over a two-year period, pro-rated monthly. Thus, and
assuming no adjustments pursuant to Section II.C, after each month of compliance
with the programmatic relief, the Penalty Amount (Currents) owed by Defendant
shall be reduced by $39,839.20, until that amount is zero.

Programmatic Relief. In addition to the Total Settlement Amount, Defendant also agrees
to the programmatic relief.
1.

Notice to the PAGA Group Members (Formers). The Settlement Administrator
will issue to each PAGA Group Member (Former) a notice in the form of Exhibit
A in conjunction with the issuance of their settlement checks. With respect to
PAGA Group Members (Formers), Defendant will not act in a manner contrary to
the rights set forth in the Notice.

2.

Confirming The Right To Engage In Protected Activity. To the extent it has
not already done so, Defendant will, on a going-forward basis, modify the
following materials at issue in the Complaint that are applicable to California
employees: its employee orientation materials, employment agreements,
separation agreements, offer letters, policies, training programs, and termination
certifications (“instruments”) to unambiguously inform employees of these
protected activity principles, to the extent such principles are applicable to the
particular instruments:
a. These instruments do not prohibit or prevent the disclosure of information about
reasonably suspected violations of the law to government agencies or public
bodies (as permitted by Labor Code § 1102.5) or other third parties (to the extent
permitted by Government Code § 12964.5), except when the employee’s
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knowledge of the information arises solely from communications protected from
disclosure by Defendant’s attorney-client privilege.
b. These instruments do not prohibit or prevent the disclosure of information about
reasonably suspected violations of the law, internally and in written form, to
persons within Defendant’s organization who have the authority to address the
violation.
c. These instruments do not prohibit or prevent political speech or activities, as
provided by Labor Code §§ 1101-1102, by employees acting in their personal
capacities.
d. These instruments do not prohibit or prevent the disclosure or discussion of their
own wages, or the wages of others as permitted by Labor Code §§ 232 and
1197.5(k), but only in a manner consistent with each employee’s constitutional
right of privacy.
e. These instruments do not prohibit or prevent the disclosure of information about
working conditions, except when that information constitutes a bona fide trade
secret or proprietary information of Defendant or is otherwise subject to a legal
privilege, consistent with Labor Code § 232.5.
f. These instruments do not prohibit or prevent the disclosure or use of the
employee’s general skills, knowledge, or acquaintances learned during the
course of their employment, nor disclosure or use of information that is readily
available to a competitor through lawful competition means. However, the
instruments can and do prevent the unlawful use or disclosure of trade secrets
and information protected from disclosure by California or federal law.
g. Employees have the rights identified in the notice of immunity set forth in the
Defend Trade Secrets Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1833(b).
h. Employees are not required to give Defendant notice or seek its approval prior
to engaging in the protected disclosures or uses permitted in Section III.C.2.ag.
i. Employees will not release any claims under the California Fair Employment
Housing Act in exchange for a raise, a bonus, or initial or continued
employment provided, however, that this does not apply to agreements that fall
within an exception to Government Code § 12964.5.
3.

Protected Activity Confirmation Announcement.
a. Defendant will announce the confirmation set forth in Section III.C.2 to its
current California-based employees in the normal course of business, but no
later than four weeks after Court approval of the Settlement. The
announcement will be maintained on a separate web page on Defendant’s
internal website. Defendant will make no company-wide announcements,
whether through Slack, email, all hands meetings, or otherwise, that are
contrary to the rights set forth in Section III.C.2. Defendant will not institute
any policy or procedure contrary to the rights set forth in Section III.C.2,
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including any policy or procedure as it relates to exit interviews or notifications
to departed or departing employees. Provided, however, that nothing in this
Paragraph or this Agreement is intended to, or shall, prevent Defendant from
protecting its trade secrets and confidential or proprietary business
information, consistent with applicable law.
b. In the event of a dispute over whether Defendant has substantially complied
with Section III.C.2, any potentially ambiguous language in the instruments
shall be interpreted in conjunction with the announcement set forth in Section
III.C.3.a. If Defendant communicates with a departed or departing employee
about their confidentiality obligations, as set forth in the instruments,
Defendant shall at the same time provide that employee with a copy of the
announcement.
4.

Notification to the LWDA. On or around the last day of the sixth, twelfth,
eighteenth, and twenty-fourth months following Court approval of the Settlement,
an officer of Defendant will certify, under penalty of perjury and based on their
personal knowledge and/or a reasonable investigation, that Defendant has
complied with the provisions of Sections III.C.2-3, and that is has made no
modifications to any instruments that are contrary to Section III.C.2-3. The
certification shall be sent to the LWDA via email to the PAGA Administrator and,
to the extent it is permitted, its on-line filing system, and to Plaintiff’s Counsel via
email and regular mail.

5.

Compliance Failure.
a. If the Court concludes that Defendant has failed to substantially comply
with any provision of Section III.C.2-4, after Plaintiff has provided written
notice of the alleged non-compliance and an opportunity to cure as
provided in Section III.C.5.b, the Court may order Defendant to comply
with Section III.F.1 with respect to some or all of the unforgiven portion
of the Penalty Amount (Currents) and to provide the Settlement
Administrator with the contact information for some or all of the PAGA
Group Members (Current). The Penalty Amount ordered by the Court
pursuant to Section III.C.5.b, along with the notice set forth in Section
III.C.1, shall then be distributed to the LWDA and the applicable PAGA
Group Members (Currents) in accordance with the terms of this Settlement
and/or the Court’s direction. In the event of a proven failure to
substantially comply with Section III.C.2–4, the Court is also authorized
to compel specific performance of the Programmatic Relief set forth in
this Settlement and correct or remedy any violations of this Settlement that
have not been cured pursuant to Section III.C.5.b.
b. In the event the Court determines that Defendant failed to cure any
substantial failure to comply with any provision of Section III.C.2-4, the
amount of the unforgiven portion of the Penalty Amount (Currents) to be
deposited with the Settlement Administrator will be pro-rated based on the
number of Pay Periods worked by the PAGA Group Members (Current)
aggrieved by the violation unless more than 33% of the PAGA Group
Members (Current) are aggrieved by the violation, in which case, the Court
may order that the remaining unforgiven portion of the Penalty Amount
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(Currents) be deposited. In determining the penalty and remedy, the Court
shall consider the extent of the violation, the extent of the harm to the
interests of the employees, the public, or the State, the extent of the cure,
and any other factor or circumstance the Court deems relevant in the
exercise of its discretion. The Court may also take into consideration these
factors in fashioning any attorneys’ fees or costs award under Section
III.G.6. No motion may be brought pursuant to Section III.C.5.a unless
Defendant receives written notice to its statutory agent for service of
process, with a copy by email to the Chief Legal Officer, Tyler Mace, at
tyler.mace@juul.com, Senior Counsel, Litigation, Emily Aldridge at
emily.aldridge@juul.com, and Legal@juul.com, of the violation and fails
to cure the violation within 15 business days. For the sake of clarity, the
Parties agree that if Defendant cures the alleged violation, there is no
violation of Section III.C.2-4 and no basis for bringing a motion.
D.

Release of Claims.
1.

Release of PAGA Claims. As of the date the Settlement becomes Final, the
LWDA, PAGA Representatives, and, to the maximum extent permitted by law,
the PAGA Group Members, release the PAGA Claims, including any and all
claims under PAGA during the Covered Period for violations of California Labor
Code sections 96(k), 98.6, 232, 232.5, 432.5 (premised on alleged violations of
Labor Code §§ 96(k), 98.6, 232, 232.5, 1101, 1102, 1102.5(a), and 1197.5(k),
Business & Professions Code §§ 16600, 16720 et. seq., and 17200, California
Government Code § 12964.5, and Rule 21F–17 of the Securities and Exchange
Commission), 1101, 1102, 1102.5(a), and 1197.5 that were asserted or could have
been asserted in the Action based upon the factual allegations asserted in the
Complaint and/or any PAGA Notice submitted to the LWDA by the PAGA
Representatives (the “Released PAGA Claims”). Except as provided in Section
III.G.6, the Released PAGA Claims also include all claims for attorneys’ fees and
costs, whether under PAGA, California Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5,
or any other applicable law or doctrine. Subject to the terms of this Agreement,
the final judgment or order approving this Settlement shall further bar the LWDA,
directly or through any agent or proxy, the PAGA Representatives, and any PAGA
Group Members from any future prosecution of the PAGA Claims. It is the intent
of the PAGA Representatives, acting as the agent or proxy of the LWDA, to bind
the PAGA Group Members through this Settlement and subsequent judgment with
respect to the PAGA Claims by operation of res judicata or collateral estoppel to
the fullest extent permitted by law. Plaintiff also releases the non-PAGA claims
for a public injunction, pursuant to Business & Professions Code § 17200 et seq.
alleged in the Complaint.

2.

Waiver of Rights Under California Civil Code Section 1542. With respect to
the Released PAGA Claims only, the PAGA Representatives expressly waive any
rights under California Civil Code section 1542, which provides as follows:
A general release does not extend to claims that the creditor or
releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at
the time of executing the release and that, if known by him or her,
would have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor or
released party.
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E.

Settlement Approval Procedure
1.

Motion to Approve the Settlement. Plaintiff must file a motion to approve the
settlement within four weeks of this Agreement being executed. Defendant will
be given five (5) business days to review and comment on the motion for approval
of the settlement before it is filed, and Plaintiff will consider Defendant’s
comments in good faith. Plaintiff shall notify the LWDA of the proposed
settlement in compliance with Section 2699(l)(2) of the California Labor Code.

2.

Motion for Fees, Costs, and Service Payments. Plaintiff also intends to file a
motion for fees, costs, and service payments in accordance with Section III.B.3.

3.

Appointment and Duties of Settlement Administrator. In connection with the
motion for approval, Plaintiff will propose a Settlement Administrator to
administer the settlement, including the calculation and distribution of the
settlement amounts. In the event that the Settlement is not approved, the Parties
will equally share the Settlement Administrator’s reasonable fees incurred as of
that time. The Settlement Administrator, as a condition of appointment, will agree
to be bound by this Agreement or the Court’s orders with respect to the
performance of its duties and its compensation. The Settlement Administrator’s
duties will include preparing, printing, and mailing the Notice Packet to the PAGA
Group Members; conducting a National Change of Address search and using
Accurint and other reasonable and cost-effective skip trace methods to locate any
PAGA Group Member whose Notice Packet was returned by the U.S. Postal
Service as non-deliverable, and re-mailing the Notice Packet to the PAGA
Settlement Group Member’s new address; issuing the checks to effectuate the
payments due under the Settlement; and otherwise administering the Settlement
pursuant to this Agreement. The Settlement Administrator’s reasonable fees and
expenses, including the cost of printing and mailing the Notice Packet, will be paid
out of amounts deposited in the Qualified Settlement Fund.

4.

No Right to Opt Out. The Parties agree there is no statutory right for any PAGA
Group Member to opt out or otherwise exclude himself or herself from the
Settlement.

5.

Effect of Denial of Settlement Approval. If the Court does not grant approval of
the Settlement, or if the Court’s final approval of the Settlement is reversed or
materially modified on appellate review, then the Settlement will become null and
void.

6.

Meet and Confer Obligation if Approval Denied. If the Court does not grant
the motion to approve the Settlement under the specific terms requested, the Parties
agree to meet and confer to address the Court’s concerns and determine whether
resolution of the claims encompassed by the Settlement can be obtained in a
manner consistent with the Court’s concerns.

7.

Entry of Order or Judgment. In the event the Court approves the Settlement, it
will render and enter an appropriate order and/or final judgment that will include
a dismissal such that it will be a final judgment on the merits, and, if it deems
appropriate, close the case for administrative purposes. However, the Court will
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also retain jurisdiction to interpret and enforce the terms of this Settlement and its
order and judgment.

F.

8.

Waiver of Right to Appeal. Provided that the Court’s approval of this Settlement
is consistent with its material terms, the parties and their respective counsel waive
any and all rights to appeal the approval of the Settlement. The waiver of appeal
does not include any waiver of the right to oppose any appeal, appellate
proceedings or post-judgment proceedings, or any waiver of the PAGA
Representatives’, Plaintiff’s Counsel’s or Defendant’s choice to contest any award
of fees, costs, or service payments by the Court. If an appeal is taken as to fees,
costs, or service payments, the amount in dispute shall be held in the Qualified
Settlement Fund, and not distributed, until the appellate proceedings as to the
dispute are concluded.

9.

Agreement Not To Publicize The Settlement. Prior to the filing of the motion
for approval, the PAGA Representatives and Plaintiff’s Counsel agree not to issue
any press or other media releases or have any communications with the press or
media or anyone other than family members, clients, or vendors related to
settlement administration regarding the Settlement, including the fact, terms, or
content of the Settlement.

Distribution of Notices and Settlement Amounts. If the Court approves the Settlement,
the following shall occur.
1.

Deposit of Settlement Amount and Receipt of Contact Information. Within
10 days of either the Court order approving the Settlement or any potential future
Court order issued under Section III.C.5, Defendant will: (1) deposit the applicable
portion of the Total Settlement Amount, subject to Section III.F.7, with the
Settlement Administrator via wire transfer to be placed in the Qualified Settlement
Fund; and (2) will provide the Administrator, in the form of structured data, and
based on Defendant’s most accurate and reliable payroll and personnel data, the
name, last known address, telephone number, Social Security number, and the total
number of Pay Periods worked, of each PAGA Group Member (Former or Current,
as applicable). This information will remain confidential and will not be disclosed
to anyone, except: (1) as consistent with this Settlement; (2) pursuant to
Defendant’s express written authorization; or (3) by order of the Court. Upon
request, the Settlement Administrator will provide to Plaintiff’s Counsel the total
number of PAGA Group Members (Former or Current, as applicable) and the total
number of their Pay Periods, broken down by PAGA Group Members (Formers)
and (if applicable) PAGA Group Members (Currents).

2.

Calculation of Settlement Amounts. The Administrator will calculate the
amount due to the LWDA and each PAGA Group Member (Former or Current, as
applicable) in accordance with the allocation formula set forth in Section III.B.

3.

Distribution of Settlement Amounts. Within seven days of either the Court order
approving the Settlement or any potential future Court order issued under Section
III.C.5, and the Court order concerning fees, costs, and/or incentive payments,
becoming Final, the Administrator will distribute the amounts in the Qualified
Settlement Fund to the LWDA and eligible PAGA Group Members (Former or
Current, as applicable) consistent with the Settlement’s allocation formula.
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However, the Administrator will hold as a reserve fund 2% of the amount due to
the LWDA pending any challenges made by PAGA Group Members (Former or
Current, as applicable) in accordance with Section III.F.4. In the same time frame,
the Administrator will also distribute the amounts approved by the Court in fees,
costs, and service payments.
4.

Challenges to PAGA Group Settlement Payments. If an actual or alleged
PAGA Group Member contends that they were not properly included as a PAGA
Group Member, or that the number of Pay Periods they worked, as provided in the
Notice, is inaccurate, they can make a written challenge to the Administrator. The
challenge must be made within 30 days of the issuance of the Notice Packet. The
written challenge should provide any information that supports the challenge. The
Administrator will, in consultation with Plaintiff’s and Defendant’s Counsel,
consider the challenge. If the Administrator concludes the challenge has merit,
then that actual or alleged PAGA Group Member will be entitled to a first or
supplemental settlement check issued from the 2% reserve set forth in Section
III.F.3 based on the allocation formula set forth in Section III.B.2, with any
additional Pay Periods added to the allocation formula. No challenge shall be
permitted or paid after the 2% reserve is exhausted or the amounts in the reserve
fund are remitted to the LWDA. The Administrator shall issue to the LWDA any
amounts that remain in the reserve fund ninety (90) days after the Notice Packets
are initially sent.

5.

Uncashed Settlement Share Checks. A PAGA Group Member must cash their
settlement check within 180 calendar days after it is mailed to them. If the check
is not cashed in that time frame, the Settlement Administrator will distribute the
funds represented by the uncashed check to the California State Controllers’ Office
Unclaimed Property Fund. If a check is returned to the Settlement Administrator,
the Settlement Administrator will make all reasonable efforts to re-mail it to the
PAGA Group Member at their correct address. If any PAGA Group Member’s
check is not cashed within 120 days after its last mailing to the PAGA Group
Member, the Settlement Administrator will send the PAGA Group Member a letter
or postcard informing them that unless the check is cashed in the next 60 days, it
will expire and become non-negotiable, and offer to replace the check if it was lost
or misplaced but not cashed.

6.

No Effect on Other Benefits. The settlement payments will not result in any
additional payments, recoveries, or benefits beyond those provided by this
Agreement to Plaintiff or the PAGA Group Members.

7.

Exception to Section III.F. Requirements. This Section III.F is expressly subject
to, and conditioned by, the suspension and forgiveness provision set forth in
Section III.B.4. Therefore, unless pursuant to the procedure described in Section
III.C.5, the Court has issued an order holding that Defendant has failed to
substantially comply with Section III.C.2-4, Defendant shall have no obligation to
deposit that portion of the Total Settlement Amount consisting of the Penalty
Amount (Currents) into the Qualified Settlement Fund and no Notice Packet to
PAGA Group Members (Currents) shall be distributed.
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G.

Miscellaneous Terms.
1.

No Admission of Liability. Defendant denies that it has engaged in any unlawful
activity, has failed to comply with the law in any respect, or has any liability to
anyone under the claims asserted in the Action. This Settlement is entered into
solely for the purpose of compromising highly disputed claims. Nothing herein
shall constitute any admission by Defendant of wrongdoing or liability, or of the
truth of any factual allegations in the Complaint, or that the PAGA Representatives
or any PAGA Group Members were aggrieved employees within the meaning of
PAGA or had standing to bring this Action. Whether or not this Settlement
becomes final, nothing in this Agreement, any document, statement, proceeding,
or conduct related to the Settlement, or any reports or account of those matters,
will be construed as or offered or admitted in evidence as evidence of any
presumption, concession, indication or admission by Defendant of any liability,
fault, wrongdoing, omission, or damage.

2.

Integrated Agreement. After this Agreement is signed and delivered by all
Parties and their counsel, this Agreement and its exhibits will constitute the entire
agreement between the Parties relating to the Settlement, and it will then be
deemed that no oral representations, warranties, covenants, or inducements have
been made to any Party concerning this Agreement or its exhibits other than the
representations, warranties, covenants, and inducements expressly stated in this
Agreement and its exhibits.

3.

Attorney Authorization. Plaintiff’s Counsel warrants and represents that it is
authorized by its clients to take all appropriate action required or permitted to be
taken by such Parties pursuant to this Agreement to effectuate its terms, and to
execute any other documents required to effectuate the terms of this Agreement,
including non-material amendments to this Agreement or its attachments as
directed by the Court. The Parties and their counsel will cooperate with each other
and use their best efforts to effect the implementation of the Settlement. In the
event the Parties are unable to reach agreement on the form or content of any
document needed to implement the Agreement, or on any supplemental provisions
that may become necessary to effectuate the terms of this Agreement, the Parties
will seek the assistance of the Court, and in all cases all such documents,
supplemental provisions and assistance of the court will be consistent with this
Agreement.

4.

Modification of Agreement. This Agreement, or any part hereof, may be
amended, modified, changed, or waived only by an express written instrument
signed by all Parties and/or their attorneys, consistent with Section III.G.3.

5.

Agreement Binding on Successors. This Agreement will be binding upon, and
inure to the benefit of, the successors of each of the Parties.

6.

Attorneys’ Fees and Costs. Any party to this Agreement, as well as the LWDA,
can bring a motion to enforce this Settlement. If Plaintiff or her counsel brings a
motion to enforce Sections III.B.4 or III.C, including as to alleged compliance
failure, they will be entitled to their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs in the
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event that they are the prevailing or successful party, consistent with applicable
law, including under PAGA and CCP § 1021.5. If Defendant opposes Plaintiff’s
motion for fees, costs, and service payments, including on appeal, Plaintiff and her
counsel will be entitled to reasonable fees and costs if they are the prevailing or
successful party, consistent with applicable law, including under PAGA and CCP
§ 1021.5. The award of fees and costs pursuant to this provision are separate and
apart from, and in addition to, any payment from the Qualified Settlement Fund
that might be approved by the Court. Defendant expressly reserves its right to
seek reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs under applicable law in connection with
any motion or appeal brought by Plaintiff’s counsel pursuant to this Section.

IV.

7.

Applicable Law. All terms and conditions of this Agreement and its exhibits will
be governed by and interpreted according to the laws of the State of California,
without giving effect to any conflict of law principles or choice of law principles.

8.

Cooperation in Drafting. The Parties have cooperated in the drafting and
preparation of this Agreement. This Agreement will not be construed against any
Party on the basis that the Party was the drafter or participated in the drafting.

9.

Execution in Counterpart. This Agreement may be executed in one or more
counterparts. All executed counterparts and each of them will be deemed to be
one and the same instrument provided that counsel for the Parties will exchange
between themselves original signed counterparts. Facsimile signatures will be
accepted if the original signature is provided within seven days. Any executed
counterpart will be admissible in evidence to prove the existence and contents of
this Agreement.

EXECUTION BY PARTIES
The Parties hereby execute this Agreement.
8/27/2021

Dated: __________, 2021
8/27/2021

____________________________________________
MARCIE HAMILTON

Dated: __________, 2021

____________________________________________
JIM ISAACSON

Dated: __________, 2021

____________________________________________
JUUL LABS, INC.
By:_________________________________________
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preparation of this Agreement. This Agreement will not be construed against any
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one and the same instrument provided that counsel for the Parties will exchange
between themselves original signed counterparts. Facsimile signatures will be
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this Agreement.

EXECUTION BY PARTIES
The Parties hereby execute this Agreement.
Dated: __________, 2021

____________________________________________
MARCIE HAMILTON

Dated: __________, 2021

____________________________________________
JIM ISAACSON

August 30 2021
Dated: __________,

____________________________________________
JUUL LABS, INC.
Tyler Mace

By:_________________________________________
Chief Legal Officer
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EXHIBIT A

Hamilton v. JUUL Labs, Inc.
THIS NOTICE GIVES YOU INFORMATION ABOUT IMPORTANT RIGHTS.
PLEASE READ THIS NOTICE CAREFULLY.
There is a settlement in the case of Hamilton v. Juul Labs, Inc., Case No. 3:20-cv-3710-EMC,
pending in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California.
The Court has ordered that you receive this notice because you are an “aggrieved employee”
within the meaning of the settlement agreement.
What This Case Is About
Plaintiff Marcie Hamilton filed suit against Juul Labs, Inc. alleging, among other things, that Juul
Labs adopted and enforced agreements, policies, and practices that violate the Labor Code and
Unfair Competition Law by preventing employees from disclosing information concerning
potential illegal conduct, working conditions, or from engaging in political activity. She has also
alleged that Juul Labs has required, and continues to require, employees to sign agreements,
including separation agreements, that unlawfully require the release of claims under California
law and that unlawfully prohibit persons from assisting in litigation. Juul Labs expressly denies
Hamilton’s claims and asserts that it has complied with all applicable laws. The Court has not
rendered any opinion as to the ultimate merits of this case.
The parties have settled the case. The settlement does not release any individual claims you
might have against Juul Labs. It only releases claims brought under the Private Attorneys
General Act (“PAGA”) and a claim by Plaintiff Hamilton seeking a public injunction under
California’s unfair competition law.
Pursuant to the settlement, you are receiving this notice and a settlement check for your share of
civil penalties under PAGA.
Notice of Rights
California law gives you certain rights, even if you have signed an agreement or are or were
subject to employment policies that purport to waive or restrict those rights. These rights
include:
1.
The right to disclose information about reasonably suspected violation of the law,
orally or in writing, internally, to government agencies or public bodies (as permitted by Labor
Code § 1102.5) or to other third parties (to the extent permitted by Government Code § 12964.5).
2.
The right to engage in political activity and political speech, in your personal
capacity, including with respect to political issues involving Juul Labs, consistent with Labor
Code §§ 1101-1102.
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3.
The right to disclose and discuss information about your working conditions
(except to the extent the working conditions themselves constitute proprietary information, trade
secret information, or information that is otherwise subject to a legal privilege), wages, and the
wages of others, consistent with Labor Code §§ 232, 232.5, and 1197.5(k), and the constitutional
right to privacy.
4.
The right to use or disclose your general skills, knowledge, acquaintances, and
information readily available through lawful competitive means, that you learned or developed
while employed at Juul Labs for the purpose of engaging in a trade or profession following your
employment with Juul Labs, as provided by Business & Professions Code § 16600. However,
this right does not include the right to unlawfully use or disclose trade secrets or other
information protected from use or disclosure by California or federal law.
5.
The right to not be held liable under any trade secret law for the disclosure or use
of a trade secret made in confidence to a government official for the purpose of reporting or
investigating a suspected violation of law, in a sealed federal or state court complaint, or to an
attorney as a part of a potential or actual lawsuit alleging retaliation so long as any pleadings
containing the trade secret are filed under seal and not disclosed except pursuant to a court order,
as provided by the Federal Defend Trade Secrets Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1833(b).
6.
The right to not be required to sign a release of claims under the California Fair
and Employment and Housing Act or a non-disparagement or similar agreement that purports to
deny you the right to disclose information about unlawful acts in the workplace, including, but
not limited to, sexual harassment, in exchange for employment, continued employment, or a
raise or a bonus, other than as provided in Government Code § 12964.5(c).
JUUL LABS WILL NOT RETALIATE AGAINST YOU FOR, NOR INTERFERE WITH,
YOUR EXERCISE OF THESE RIGHTS.
Your Settlement Amount
Your settlement check is for ___________. This amount is based on, among other
things, payroll data reflecting your dates of employment and the number of pay periods you
worked for Juul Labs where you identified your residential address as being within the
geographic boundaries of California between August 14, 2018 and [the date of final approval],
i.e., ___ Pay Periods. If you believe you worked more Pay Periods within the geographic
boundaries of California than set forth above, notwithstanding your residential address, you can
file a written challenge with the Settlement Administrator providing information in support of
your challenge. Such information may lead to you receiving a higher settlement amount.
However, any challenge must be sent to the Settlement Administrator no later than _________.
The Settlement Administrator is [contact info for Administrator].
If you have any questions about the Settlement, please contact the Settlement
Administrator or Plaintiff’s counsel at _________________________.
Do not contact the Court.
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